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This book is dedicated to the men and women of the United States Secret Service, past and present, who have worked tirelessly to keep the occupant of the Office of the President of the United States in a secure environment, through good times and bad, without regard to the political party affiliation of the protectee. You served long, tedious hours, under stress and in the face of danger, without complaint to ensure continuity of our government as directed by the Constitution and its amendments. No matter the challenges or obstacles, you remained true to the Secret Service code of honor: WORTHY OF TRUST AND CONFIDENCE. I am proud to have served in your ranks.





INTRODUCTION





Walking Beside History


As a Special Agent in the United States Secret Service, I had the honor and privilege of serving five presidents—Dwight D. Eisenhower, John F. Kennedy, Lyndon B. Johnson, Richard M. Nixon, and Gerald R. Ford—three Republicans and two Democrats. From my unique vantage point, I had the rare opportunity to observe the human side of these men—the most powerful men in the world—as each dealt with the enormous responsibilities and unforeseen challenges thrust upon them, and how their individual characters and personalities affected grave decisions.


My seventeen years in the Secret Service spanned the period that encompassed the U-2 spy incident; the Cold War; the Cuban Missile Crisis; the assassinations of President John F. Kennedy, Martin Luther King Jr., and Robert F. Kennedy; the civil rights movement, riots and burning of major U.S. cities; the Vietnam War; Watergate; and the resignations of Vice President Spiro T. Agnew and President Nixon. In less than two decades, America went from being unquestionably the most respected and admired nation in the world to a country whose image had become tarnished by violence, scandal, and deceit.


It is interesting to note that of these five presidents, only Eisenhower had a normal run as president—elected by the people and serving two full terms. Kennedy was elected in 1960 by the slimmest of margins, and his term lasted just one thousand days, cut short by an assassin. Suddenly, the vice president became president. Johnson was reelected the following year, but when the demands of the office and the casualties of the Vietnam War became more than he could bear, he chose not to run for a second term. Nixon was elected in 1968, and again in 1972, but in the wake of the Watergate scandal, he became the first United States president to resign, in 1974. A year earlier, when Nixon’s vice president, Spiro Agnew, resigned in disgrace, Nixon appointed Gerald Ford as vice president. Thus, upon Nixon’s resignation, Ford became president, never having been elected to the office.


It was a turbulent time, and there I was, in the middle of it all.


As with our two previous books, my talented writing partner, Lisa McCubbin, and I have attempted to bring history to life through my experiences. While Mrs. Kennedy and Me focused on my interactions with Jacqueline Kennedy, and Five Days in November detailed those tragic days surrounding the assassination, the Kennedy section in this book focuses on my observations of and interactions with President Kennedy. There is unavoidably some overlap, but the recollections of my years with Eisenhower, Johnson, Nixon, and Ford are revealed here for the first time.


There is no doubt that the assassination of President Kennedy was a defining moment for me, and it would affect me on many levels for the rest of my life. I was thrust onto the pages of history, but it has often bothered me that I would be remembered solely for my actions on that one day. For there was much that led up to that moment, and much that followed.


Like the five presidents I served, there were many things that influenced the decisions I made, the actions I took, the man I became.


It has indeed been an extraordinary journey.





PART ONE





With President Eisenhower


When I was sworn into the U.S. Secret Service as a Special Agent in 1958, President Dwight D. Eisenhower was well into the second year of his second term. As the Supreme Commander of the Allied Forces in World War II, he was credited with liberating Europe, which made him a worldwide hero. General Eisenhower had entered politics as a moderate Republican and had earned the respect of the nation, with 85 percent of the country viewing him favorably. The American people trusted his judgment and leadership during a time when the threat of a nuclear attack by the Soviet Union was a very real fear for all of us.


The Eisenhower era was one of peace and prosperity. Just seven months into his term, Eisenhower had ended the Korean War, and his conservative fiscal policies led to unprecedented expansion. Having seen the numerous benefits of the autobahns in Germany, Eisenhower initiated America’s interstate highway system, which created an abundance of jobs as roads and bridges were constructed across the country.


People were proud to be Americans, proud of our country, and proud of our president.
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The Secret Dead Body


All I could think of as I stared at the dead woman lying on the bed was How the hell are we going to get her body out of here without anyone knowing?


There were only a few hours of darkness left, so some quick decisions had to be made. It was my first month as a Special Agent in the United States Secret Service, and I knew if I screwed this up, my career would be over before it really began.


Fortunately, I had the home telephone number of my supervisor, Earl Schoel, the Special Agent in Charge (SAIC) of the Denver Field Office, in my wallet. I walked quietly downstairs and dialed his number from the phone in the kitchen.


“Hello?” Schoel answered groggily.


“Mr. Schoel,” I said, “it’s Clint Hill. I’m sorry to call you in the middle of the night, but we have a situation here at the Doud residence.”


Few people knew it, but President Dwight D. Eisenhower had ordered part-time Secret Service protection for his eighty-year-old mother-in-law, Mrs. Elvira Doud. There were no outright threats to the president’s mother-in-law, but because she was ill and lived alone, except for a maid and a nurse, there was concern that she could be kidnapped and held for bargaining purposes. Likewise, if there was a major health problem during the night, the agents would have the means to quickly get her the help she needed and also be able to immediately notify the president and Mrs. Eisenhower.


On September 22, 1958, I was given a badge, handcuffs, holster, gun, and ammunition, and officially sworn in as a Special Agent in the United States Secret Service. I was taken out to the shooting range at the U.S. Mint in Denver to make sure I could qualify, and that was it. There was no other immediate training, except for reading the Special Agent Manual. One of my first assignments was on the midnight shift, protecting Mrs. Doud.


Mrs. Doud lived in a three-story brick home at 750 Lafayette Street in Denver, Colorado, and the protection was from seven o’clock in the evening until seven o’clock in the morning, with one agent on duty from 7:00 p.m. until 11:00 p.m., and another agent taking over from 11:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m.


First Lady Mamie Eisenhower and her sister Mabel—whom everyone called “Mike”—had been visiting their mother over the past week and were so grateful for the agents to stay the night with her that they prepared sandwiches for us each evening and left them in the fridge. It was a very nice gesture, and they weren’t so bad when Mamie made them, but when Mike got involved, let me tell you, those were the worst sandwiches I ever tasted. I never could figure out exactly what she put between the slices of white bread that tasted so bad, but it was almost inedible. The Mike and Mamie sandwiches were a running joke among the agents in the Denver office.


That particular night, I had come to work just before eleven, and the departing agent told me there had been no unusual activity. The house was quiet, with Mrs. Doud and her nurse asleep upstairs on the second floor, and the maid, Mary, in her room on the third floor.


I had been at the house for a couple of hours when I heard Mrs. Doud calling for her nurse. The nurse stayed in the bedroom adjacent to Mrs. Doud, and I assumed she would attend to her needs. A few minutes later, however, Mrs. Doud called out again, this time a bit louder. I waited a few more minutes, listening closely for any conversation upstairs, but there was just silence. When Mrs. Doud called out a third time, I realized that the nurse must be asleep.


I walked up the stairs and into Mrs. Doud’s room.


“Mrs. Doud, I’m Agent Hill. Is there a problem?”


She coughed, and then said, “I’ve been calling for the nurse.”


“She’s probably asleep, ma’am,” I said. “I’ll go tell her you need her.”


I walked into the nurse’s room, and in the darkness I saw the outline of her body on the bed. I called out to her in a firm voice, but she didn’t budge.


An uneasy feeling started to come over me as I walked toward the bed. I placed my hand on her shoulder and started to shake her, but her body was stiff as a board.


Oh God, I thought. The nurse is dead.


From the other room, Mrs. Doud called out, “Agent? Where’s my nurse?”


I did not want to tell her that her nurse was dead. “Just a minute,” I said as I ran up the stairs to the maid’s room on the third floor.


“Mary, wake up,” I whispered as I shook her. “It’s Agent Hill, Mary. You need to wake up. The nurse is dead, and Mrs. Doud needs some help. You need to get up and help Mrs. Doud.”


Mary sat straight up in bed, her eyes like big white marbles against the dark black of her skin opened so wide that I thought they were going to pop right out of her head.


“Oh my Lordy!” she exclaimed.


“Shh, Mary,” I said. “I don’t want to alarm Mrs. Doud. Please go down and see what she needs, and don’t tell her the nurse is dead.”


As soon as Mary went into Mrs. Doud’s room, I went back into the nurse’s room to try to figure out what to do. The problem was that Mrs. Eisenhower had just left Denver that morning, headed back to Washington by train. She was afraid of flying, so she always took the train. I was concerned that if the press got word that a woman had died at 750 Lafayette Street, they would assume it was Mrs. Doud. I sure as hell didn’t want rumors flying and poor Mrs. Eisenhower to think her mother had died before we could clarify what actually happened.


Fortunately, when I called my supervisor, Mr. Schoel, he had a solution. He was a friend of the coroner, and he knew the coroner had a special car—not a traditional hearse, but a sedan in which the backseat had been removed and the two doors on the passenger side opened opposite each other to form an opening wide enough to get a body inside. Schoel said he would call the coroner and send him right over.


Mrs. Doud had fallen back asleep, but poor Mary was still in a state of shock as I explained what we were going to do and why we had to do it.


The coroner arrived and slowly backed the car into the driveway so that the passenger side was opposite the side door of the house leading into the kitchen. We went upstairs, wrapped the nurse in a blanket, and the two of us proceeded to haul her body downstairs. She was a hefty woman and presumably had had a heart attack, but it was clear she had been dead long before I arrived on duty. Her body was deadweight, extremely difficult to maneuver down the narrow staircase, and with every step I was privately cursing the agent who came on duty before me for not realizing there was a dead woman upstairs—or worse, for knowing the woman had died and leaving the situation to me to deal with and then do all the damn paperwork.


The coroner and I managed to get the nurse out of the house and into the car without making too much noise, and no one in the press ever knew.


Of course, when Mrs. Doud awoke that morning, she was informed that her nurse had died overnight, Mr. Schoel notified the president’s staff, and I got to keep my job.


As it turned out, surreptitiously removing a dead body from the president’s mother-in-law’s house in the wee hours of an autumn morning in 1958 was minor-league compared to the situations I would face over the next seventeen years.


I NEVER HAD any intention of becoming a Secret Service agent. Growing up in Washburn, North Dakota, my goal was to coach athletics and teach history. I have come to realize, however, that sometimes your life takes a turn in a direction over which you have no control—and in my case, it started from the moment I was born.


When I was seventeen days old, my mother had me baptized and then, on a snowy January morning, left me on the doorstep of the North Dakota Children’s Home for Adoption in Fargo. Three months later, Chris and Jennie Hill drove to Fargo with their four-year-old adopted daughter, Janice, and out of all the children at the orphanage, chose me to make their family complete.


I had a wonderful childhood. Washburn, North Dakota, is perched on the north bank of the Missouri River, about halfway between Bismarck and Minot, and back then the population hovered around nine hundred. Largely settled by German, Swedish, and Norwegian immigrant farmers, Washburn had numerous churches and a couple of gas stations, but not even one stoplight. It was the kind of close-knit community where you didn’t dare get into trouble because word would get back to your parents before you could race home and sneak in the back door. There wasn’t much for a boy to do but play sports, and that was fine with me. In high school I participated in every competitive sport that was offered—track, football, baseball, and basketball—and throughout the long winters, my friends and I would play ice hockey until it was too dark to see the puck.


Our family life revolved around the Evangelical Lutheran Church where my sister Janice played the piano and I was an altar boy. My father was the county auditor and also served as treasurer of the church, so on Sundays he would bring home the collection money and we would sit at the kitchen table, counting and registering what had been offered that week while my mother prepared dinner.


My mother was the glue that held the family together, and I rarely saw her sitting down—she was doing laundry, tending to the vegetable garden, canning, or cooking—and while Dad was a man of few words, he taught me lessons I’ve carried with me my entire life. Always be respectful of others, no matter who they are; live within your means and save for the future; strive to do the best job at whatever you do; and never, ever be late.


People who have worked with me know I’m a stickler for promptness—something that goes back to an incident that took place when I was in high school.


My curfew was 10:00 p.m., and one night I walked in the front door at 10:08. My father was waiting for me, as he always did, and before I could offer any explanation, he grabbed my shirt collar with both hands, lifted me off the floor, and slammed me against the wall.


“Clinton!” he yelled. “You are late!” His eyes pierced through me with anger and disappointment as his fists tightened around my neck. “Don’t you ever walk into this house late again!”


I honestly don’t remember why I was late, but I knew that no excuse would have made a difference. From that moment on, whether it was showing up for work, meeting a friend for lunch, or coming home by curfew, rarely was I ever late again. To this day, one of the few things that causes me anxiety is to be running late.


I grew up listening to college football games on our Philco radio, and I had visions of playing football for the University of Michigan, but when the local chapter of the Lutheran Brotherhood awarded me a one-hundred-dollar scholarship to attend Concordia College in Moorhead, Minnesota, which was Lutheran-affiliated, the decision was made for me.


I took my studies seriously, but my real passion continued to be sports. I played football and baseball, and had the benefit of a wonderful football coach and mentor named Jake Christiansen. Coach Jake was already a legend at Concordia by the time I got there, and other than my parents, he had more influence on my character, ethics, and values than anyone.


I didn’t have much confidence or experience with dating, but in the spring of my freshman year, I met a young lady named Gwen Brown. Gwen was a year older than me, but she was a friend of some girls who were dating some of my football buddies, and we all hung out together. Gwen grew up on a farm where the nearest town was an even smaller town than Washburn, so we had that in common, and we shared a love of music. She was a member of Concordia’s elite concert choir, and I sang in an a cappella male quartet. One by one, the couples in our group got engaged, and on February 28, 1953, during my junior year and her senior year, Gwen and I got married at the Trinity Lutheran Church near the Concordia campus. We were so young—too young—but things were different in those days, and like smoking cigarettes because everybody else was doing it, we just didn’t know any better.


When I graduated from Concordia in the spring of 1954, my intention was to return to North Dakota to find a job in a local high school teaching history and coaching athletics. The U.S. Army, however, had different plans for me.


No sooner did I have my degree in hand than I was notified by the draft board in McLean County, North Dakota, to report to an office in Fargo for processing and I was sworn into the U.S. Army. From there it was straight to Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri, for eight weeks of demanding physical training, along with a few written intelligence tests. Apparently, my scores on those tests gave them an indication that I had something the Army was looking for, and upon completion of basic training I was instructed to report to Fort Holabird, in Dundalk, Maryland, to attend Army Intelligence School, where I would learn how to be an agent in counterintelligence.


I had two weeks off before I needed to be at Fort Holabird, and during this time my father suffered a stroke. Fortunately, I was able to spend a few days with him, talking and reminiscing, but he died two days after I left. It was a devastating blow, and I had to come to grips with the stark realization that, at twenty-two, from that point on, there was no one to guide me—I was on my own.


I threw myself into the courses at Fort Holabird. The program was rigorous and intense, as we were taught investigative, surveillance, and interrogation techniques, and then tested by using those techniques in practical exercises. We would be assigned to interrogate someone who was suspected of committing a crime or sent on a mission to surveil a suspect around Baltimore and the surrounding area. They were real-life situations, with our professional instructors role-playing the parts of the suspects, using every con artist and thug trick in the book to try to mislead us, and I found it both fascinating and challenging.


In January 1955, after four months at Fort Holabird, I was assigned to Region IX 113th Counterintelligence Corps (CIC) Field Office in Denver, Colorado, where my work consisted mostly of running background investigations on individuals who were being considered for various security clearances in the U.S. government—up to and including “Top Secret.”


Nine months after I arrived in Denver, President Eisenhower happened to be in Colorado for a golf and fishing vacation when he suffered a heart attack. He was rushed to Fitzsimons Army Hospital in Aurora, and although the White House press office termed it a “mild” heart attack, the president remained there for seven weeks. I had some investigations that required me to check records at Fitzsimons, and I ended up meeting several members of Eisenhower’s Secret Service detail. Dressed in suits with white shirts and ties, the agents were resolute in their protective measures, and certainly could be intimidating if necessary, but they were at the same time courteous and respectful to the nurses, doctors, family members, and friends who had authorization to come in close contact with the president. I was impressed with their professionalism and the way they conducted themselves, and suddenly had a newfound respect for all that was required to protect the President of the United States. Still, it never entered my mind that I would ever be among their ranks.


MY TOUR OF duty was scheduled to be completed in July 1956, just about the same time Gwen and I were expecting our first child. Rather than suddenly have to find a new job and possibly move just as the baby arrived, I decided it made a lot more sense to stay in the Army for at least one more year so the baby could be born in the military hospital.


On July 21, Gwen went into labor, and in the early morning hours of July 22, she delivered a baby boy. Unfortunately, there was a problem during delivery, and he had to have a blood transfusion. When I first held him in my arms, there was a white bandage on the top of his little head where they had done the transfusion, but other than that, he was absolutely perfect. We named him Chris Jeffrey Hill—Chris after my father, and Jeffrey so he could have the same CJH initials as both my father and I had. A year later, I was honorably discharged from the U.S. Army in Fort Carson, Colorado, and my intent was to return to North Dakota to find a job coaching athletics and teaching history.


For the next several weeks, I interviewed at dozens of schools all over North Dakota and Minnesota, but with no previous teaching experience, the only jobs available were in small towns, with small salaries and few benefits. The responsibility of providing for my family weighed heavily on me, and I eventually came to the conclusion that perhaps I should consider alternative careers. I reflected on my father and how he had been able to buy a home for our family, as well as put aside enough money to send both Janice and me to college, and I was determined to do the same. Even though my dad was no longer alive, I believed he was still watching me, and I wanted to make him proud. I realized I had enjoyed the investigative work in the CIC and had made a lot of connections in the Denver area, and that was probably the best place to start.


It didn’t take long for me to land a job as a credit investigator with a credit company, and shortly thereafter I found a better position with the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad as a railroad detective, investigating theft and ensuring security of their facilities. One day I was driving past Fitzsimons Army Hospital, and I remembered the Secret Service agents I had met in 1955. I had no idea what it took to become an agent, but I figured I might as well give it a shot, so I drove straight to the Secret Service in Denver to find out what the possibilities might be.


I learned that there were 269 agents in the entire Secret Service organization, and rarely were there openings. Even if you could pass all the background checks and score highly on the intelligence tests, the only way you were going to get in was if an agent died or retired. It was a long shot, but I decided to fill out an application and hope for the best. I went back to work at the railroad and didn’t think much more about it.


A few months later I got the phone call that would change the course of my life. It turned out that because of retirements, three openings in the Secret Service had occurred simultaneously. One of them was in Denver, and I was being considered for that position. Since I had just come out of the CIC the year before, my background check was a breeze, and on September 22, 1958, I was hired and sworn in as a Special Agent in the United States Secret Service in the Denver Field Office.


THE U.S. SECRET Service is one of the oldest law enforcement agencies in America, created in 1865. Its original mission was to investigate and prevent counterfeit currency, which was rampant after the Civil War and threatened to destabilize the country’s economy. The legislation to establish the “Secret Service Division” of the United States Treasury was on Abraham Lincoln’s desk the night he was assassinated, but it wasn’t until after the assassination of President William McKinley in 1901 that Congress assigned the duties of presidential protection to the Secret Service. To this day, the agency has two distinct missions—investigating and preventing financial crimes, and the protection of our nation’s leaders.


In the Denver office, while we had the responsibility of protecting President Eisenhower’s mother-in-law, Mrs. Doud, the majority of our time was spent investigating financial crimes—counterfeiting and forged checks. However, when President Eisenhower would come to town, we dropped everything in order to assist the White House Detail—the small group of agents who protected the president and his family. I had no specialized training other than watching the detail agents and following their directions. I took mental notes of everything they did, the way they used hand and eye signals to communicate with one another, blending in with the other people around the president while simultaneously moving purposefully to create an invisible barrier of protection.


These were the guys I had met back in 1955—the best of the best—and I wanted to be one of them.
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The White House Detail


The Secret Service today has stiff entrance requirements and consistent and rigorous training, and in order to even be considered for the White House Detail—presently called the Presidential Protective Division (PPD)—you will have to have been an agent for five to nine years, depending on the needs of the organization. When I joined the Secret Service, every new agent was sent to Washington during the first year on the job for thirty days’ temporary duty on the White House Detail to determine if you were the type of agent the Secret Service wanted assigned to the White House on a permanent basis. I had been on the job in Denver for about six months when my evaluation period came around.


It was the summer of 1959, and hotter than hell. Compared to the dry, crisp air of Colorado, the Washington humidity was smothering, and from the moment I stepped off the airplane at National Airport, I was in a constant state of sticky perspiration.


The Treasury Department had negotiated cheap rates for agents to stay at a boardinghouse about two blocks from the White House, run by a woman everyone called “Ma Bouma.” While Ma kept the rooms clean, it was no-frills and there was no air-conditioning—but all I could think about was that I was being given the chance of a lifetime.


I had been instructed to report to the Northwest Gate of the White House and present my credentials.


“Good morning,” I said as I handed the uniformed guard my blue leather commission book, trying to sound as if walking up to the White House and expecting to be let in was perfectly natural. A wave of apprehension washed over me as he scrutinized the photo, looked at me, looked back at the photo, and then began flipping through some papers.


Finally, he handed my commission book back to me and said, “Good morning, Agent Hill. You can go in through the West Wing door. Mr. Rowley is expecting you.”


As I entered the White House for the first time, my anxieties dissipated, and all I could feel was an overwhelming sense of pride. Portraits of past presidents lined the walls, gazing down on the people who were bustling around with urgency and purpose, seemingly oblivious to the history surrounding them. As I was escorted to Mr. Rowley’s office, I tried to take it all in, making mental observations of every detail so the next time I saw my mother I could tell her what it was like to be inside the White House.


Fifty-year-old James J. Rowley was the Special Agent in Charge of the White House Detail and, having been in the position since Franklin D. Roosevelt was president, was highly respected by all the agents. Rowley’s office, which he shared with his administrative assistant, Walter Blaschak, was just inside the West Wing lobby. Crammed into the small, windowless office were two desks facing each other in the middle of the room, while a couple of metal filing cabinets and a well-worn couch were squeezed against one wall. Standing ominously on the opposite wall was a large gun case stacked with .45-caliber Thompson submachine guns, 12-gauge shotguns, and .30-caliber carbines.


Mr. Rowley stood up from his desk as I entered the office and greeted me warmly with a smile and a firm handshake.


“Welcome to the White House, Clint,” he said. “I understand you’ve been doing good work out there in Denver.”


“Thank you, sir,” I said. “It’s an honor to meet you.”


Mr. Rowley had an affable personality with an easy smile belied by steely eyes that could size you up in an instant, without revealing what he was thinking. The son of Irish Catholic immigrants, he had a toughness that came from being raised in the Bronx during the Depression and having to support his family after his father was killed in a job-related accident with the city of New York highway department. There was a no-nonsense air about him, and I liked him immediately.


Mr. Rowley explained that I would be assigned to a shift, and over the course of the next thirty days I would always be with an agent on that shift to witness firsthand how the detail operated. He handed me a black notebook that had metal pins holding it together so pages could easily be added or removed and said, “Here’s the White House Detail manual. This should answer a lot of your questions, but certainly don’t hesitate to ask anyone if there’s anything you don’t understand. We have no room for error or miscommunication.”


Printed in silver on the cover of the manual was a Secret Service star, and beneath it: WHITE HOUSE DETAIL. In the lower right hand corner was the number 9. Mr. Rowley explained that there were a set number of copies of the manual and each one was assigned to a specific agent. Inside was detailed information about the automobiles and aircraft we used; people to be notified when the president left the White House; the protocol for arrivals and departures both domestically and internationally; the formation of motorcades for various situations; and a litany of other details that only the agents protecting the president were to know. Under no circumstances was the manual to be shared with anyone outside the detail.


By the time I left his office, the enormity of the responsibility I was about to undertake had begun to set in, and I hoped I could prove to be worthy of the trust being placed in me.


EVERY ONE OF the next thirty days was exhilarating and exhausting. There was so much information to take in, and all my training was on the job.


In that month on temporary duty, I worked midnight shifts in the pitch-black darkness at Eisenhower’s Gettysburg farm and at Camp David, the nearby presidential retreat in Maryland’s Catoctin Mountains; traveled to New York City as part of the White House Detail protecting President Eisenhower as he toured the Soviet Exhibition of Science, Technology, and Culture; traveled to Canada and helped secure the area for President Eisenhower and Queen Elizabeth to participate in the opening of the St. Lawrence Seaway; stood post at designated points within the White House; helped man the Secret Service follow-up car in fast-paced, police-escorted motorcades through downtown Washington; and posed as a golfer along the fairway at Burning Tree Country Club, carrying a golf bag filled with a couple of beat-up old clubs and a carbine rifle. It was an interesting and educational experience, and I enjoyed every aspect of it.


I would learn later that it was not only the top-level supervisors who would determine whether I qualified to be on the White House Detail, but that the agents on my shift, my peers, would weigh in as well. At the end of the thirty days, the shift would take a vote, and I would be either in or out. It wasn’t up to the president or his staff or even the chief of the Secret Service. The guys who mattered were your immediate supervisors and the agents you worked with day in and day out, and they had to be certain you were a team player—reliable, trustworthy, and willing to work in the worst of circumstances without complaint. When the thirty days were up, I returned to Denver knowing I’d done my best, but not knowing if it was good enough.


Fortunately, I didn’t have to wait long. Just a few weeks later, I got notification that I was being transferred from Denver to the White House Detail, effective November 1, 1959. I was bursting with pride to know that I had been accepted, but it was daunting to think of the responsibility I was about to face—the responsibility to protect the President of the United States, at all costs. To put his life before mine or anyone else’s, for the good of the country.


The first order of business, however, was to find a place for Gwen, Chris, and me to live in the Washington area. My friend and fellow agent Paul Rundle had been transferred from the Denver office to the White House Detail a few months earlier, so I called him for advice.


“Don’t worry, Clint,” Paul said. “I’ll take care of it.”


Before we even left Denver, Paul and his wife, Peggy, found us a semidetached two-bedroom home for rent at 3704 South 3rd Street in Arlington, Virginia, which was within our budget and was an easy seven-mile commute to the White House. When we arrived with all our belongings, the Rundles had already stocked the house with food and the necessary staples, and they helped us unpack and get settled. I was grateful to Paul for making that part of the transition so easy, and when I thanked him, he said, “You’re on the detail now, Clint. We take care of each other. It’s what we do.”


PRESIDENT DWIGHT D. Eisenhower was sixty-nine years old when I started on his protective detail. Even though he had suffered from some major health issues in the nearly seven years since he had first taken the oath of office, outwardly he appeared fit and competent, with no indication of slowing down.


I was immediately placed on one of the three shifts of agents who provide security for the president twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year. He is never left alone. The day shift covered 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., the evening shift 4:00 p.m. to midnight, and the midnight shift ran from midnight to 8:00 a.m. Each shift had only nine men, and with some agents on regular days off or handling advances for an upcoming presidential trip or off-site, that meant there might be only five or six agents around the president at any given time. Depending on the president’s schedule, your shift might start early or get extended because there was always a team that went ahead of the president to provide protection for arrivals, departures, and on-site posts. Rarely did you have an eight-hour day, and then every two weeks the teams rotated shifts, which meant that just as your body was getting used to a sleep pattern, you’d start a new one.


I was the new man on the job, so I worked with another agent for the first week to make sure I was completely aware of my assignments. The first step was to learn the layout of the White House and the Executive Office Building, both of which seemed like mazes to me at first, but would eventually become as familiar as my own home. Next was to be able to identify every person who had authorized access to the White House complex. There is an army of people who keep the White House running, and it was critical to be able to recognize the cooks and dishwashers as well as the housekeepers, florists, and maintenance staff. On top of all those faces, I had to learn all the cabinet and congressional members, and be able to address them by name. It was also helpful to know their state and party affiliation. Finally, there was the White House press corps. Members of the press had access to the West Wing press room and the West Wing lobby but had to be escorted anywhere else. It was a lot to take in all at once, but I felt deeply privileged to have this responsibility.


My first week on the job on the White House Detail was a real eye-opener into President Eisenhower’s leadership style and how he dealt with the vast demands of the office. A typical day for President Eisenhower began with his prompt arrival in the Oval Office at 8:00 a.m. Usually his first meeting was with his staff secretary, Brigadier General Andrew J. Goodpaster, and the president’s thirty-seven-year-old son, Major John Eisenhower, who worked directly for Goodpaster.


After the initial morning briefing, President Eisenhower would have one nonstop appointment after another until lunchtime. Having been a career military officer, President Eisenhower was cognizant of the clock and was adamant about staying on schedule. He was not inclined to chitchat or small talk, instead preferring to get right down to business with whomever he was meeting, and at times it seemed like the Oval Office had a revolving door, he was able to fit so many meetings into a short amount of time. The same thing was true for meetings or events outside the White House; whether it was a speech to congressional members or a ribbon-cutting ceremony, he got the job done in the time allotted, and then it was on to the next thing. What was interesting to me was to see how much the president was able to accomplish each day, yet still manage to play golf on an almost daily basis.


After the morning’s meetings had concluded, usually by 12:30, he would leave the West Wing and return to the mansion for lunch, which was served promptly at 1:00 p.m. On Monday, my first day at the White House, shortly before 2:00 p.m., we drove him to the exclusive, all-male Burning Tree Country Club in Bethesda, Maryland. He played eighteen holes of golf with friends and returned to the White House around six o’clock. Wednesday, same schedule, different golf partners. Friday, same thing, until about three o’clock when a sudden rainstorm forced the halt of the game after five holes, and when it was determined that the rain was going to continue for quite some time, the president returned to the White House. No further appointments had been scheduled, so he spent the rest of the rainy afternoon in the movie theater watching a Western.


Tuesday and Thursday had similar nonstop activity until lunchtime, along with some scattered appointments in the afternoon. Still, he managed to fit in some golf practice on the South Grounds of the White House. After changing into his golf cleats in the Oval Office, he walked out the east door—leaving spike holes in the wooden floor that would remain there for years—to the three-thousand-square-foot putting green he had arranged to have installed about fifty yards outside the Oval Office. For about an hour, he alternated between putting and driving, using the White House lawn as his own private golf course.


It was a great treat for tourists walking along the south fence to see the President of the United States whacking golf balls across the lawn, while his personal valet, Sergeant John Moaney, ran back and forth retrieving them. The first time I saw Moaney fetching the golf balls, I felt sorry for him, because it seemed like a humiliating chore. However, I soon realized that no one was more devoted to President Eisenhower than his valet, who had been with him since the war, when Moaney was assigned to the general’s personal staff. They had a great relationship, and it seemed like Moaney enjoyed participating in the most relaxing part of his boss’s day.


The president’s job does not stop on the weekends—it is round-the-clock, seven days a week. The same goes for the Secret Service. By the end of my first week, I was beginning to feel more comfortable with the protective procedures, and with President Eisenhower himself. He could be very intense, but was also quick to laugh. When it came to the agents who were around him constantly, he pretty much treated us like his troops. There were only two agents he called by name—his driver, Dick Flohr, and the Special Agent in Charge, Jim Rowley. He had no interest in learning (or need to learn) any of the rest of our names. If he needed something, he’d look at you and call out, “Hey, agent!” It was our job to protect the man, not become his personal friends.


During my second week on the White House Detail, I went on my first trip with President Eisenhower. On Thursday, November 12, we left the White House at 10:30 a.m. and flew to Augusta, Georgia, aboard the presidential aircraft, a Lockheed VC-121E Super Constellation named Columbine III. Three hours later, the president was teeing off the first hole at the Augusta National Golf Club.


Founded in 1933, Augusta National Golf Club is a private and very exclusive club that you have to be invited to join, and up until 2012, only men were allowed. The meticulously manicured eighteen-hole course is considered one of the most beautiful in the world, with over one hundred acres of flawless grass fairways dotted with white sand bunkers and lined by 150-year-old pine trees and countless flowering shrubs and trees. Each spring when the flowers are at their peak the best golfers in the world are invited to Augusta National to compete for the green jacket given to the winner of the Masters, one of golf’s most prestigious tournaments.


There were no permanent residences along the golf course, but ten cabins had been built for the use of members, including one specifically built in 1953 for President Eisenhower. The Eisenhower Cabin was not at all rustic, as the name implies, but was an elegant four-bedroom, two-story home with a spacious front porch near the No. 10 tee, and because the Secret Service had been involved in the design of the cabin, it included special communications equipment and facilities in the basement for use by the on-duty agents when Ike was in residence.


President Eisenhower loved to play Augusta because it offered so many challenges. One in particular was a large loblolly pine standing along the 17th fairway that had become Ike’s nemesis on the course. The president hit that same tree so regularly that each time he approached the 17th hole, he’d become agitated. He’d watch the flight of the ball, wincing and willing it to avoid the tree, but so often you’d hear a crack as it smacked the bark, and then immediately a burst of profanity from the president as he stormed toward his archenemy. The tree had become so problematic to him that he even lobbied the club to have it cut down. The proposal was denied, however, and instead the tree became known as the “Eisenhower Tree,” much to the president’s dismay.


One of the most fun things about protecting President Eisenhower on his golf outings was being around the high-profile people with whom he played—people like Cliff Roberts, a co-founder of Augusta National; Bill Robinson, chairman of the board of Coca-Cola; and the most interesting to me, Arnold Palmer.


When Palmer drove from the tee, the ball would rise and remain about three feet off the ground for about two hundred yards and then zoom upward, coming to rest near or on the green. He was amazing.


After nine holes, the group would take a break for beverages, and if Cliff Roberts was in the group, he would say, “Drinks all around . . . except for the Secret Service!” The joke got tiresome for us, but we’d smile and find our way to the water cooler at the end of the round.


I had very little experience playing golf myself—just a few times hitting balls with some borrowed clubs on the rough, prairie-grass-covered public course near Underwood, North Dakota—but over the next year on President Eisenhower’s detail I would spend so much time on the Augusta National and Burning Tree courses that I could anticipate which club the president would use on every hole, and where he was most likely to slice a shot into the woods. That first trip I took to Augusta in November 1959, President Eisenhower played eighteen holes of golf every day for twelve days straight. It turned out to be a pretty good indication of how much time I’d be spending on golf courses for the duration of Ike’s term.
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The Eleven-Nation Tour


In late 1959, the most pressing issues on the international front were the recent takeover of Cuba by the Communist Fidel Castro and the conflict between the Western allies and Soviet premier Nikita Khrushchev about the future of Berlin. That first week I was at the White House, I was informed that President Eisenhower and his staff were planning a trip in December, built around a meeting in Paris between the Big Four Western allies—the United Kingdom, France, Germany, and the United States. It was an ambitious and historic journey that would encompass three continents, eleven countries, and over 22,000 miles in nineteen days. Three Boeing 707 jets had recently been acquired for the presidential fleet—the first jets available to any president—and clearly Eisenhower was determined to make good use of them.


On the evening of December 3, 1959, President Eisenhower appeared live on national television from the White House, less than an hour prior to our departure. Bidding farewell to the American people, he outlined the nature of the trip while stressing the unbreakable connection between economic stability at home and the maintenance of peace through strength around the globe. With his wire-rimmed glasses dangling casually from his right hand, the president looked straight into the camera, knowing that every American who had their television on was watching him.


“Good evening, fellow Americans,” he began.


Dressed in a three-piece suit with a crisp white shirt and tie, he looked every bit the country’s chief executive officer, confident and in control. He placed the glasses on his face and continued, with the soothing voice of a wise and comforting grandfather.


“I leave in just a few minutes on a three-week journey halfway around the world.” Glancing intermittently at the notes on the podium in front of him, he explained to the American people the purpose for his journey to Italy, Turkey, Pakistan, Afghanistan, India, Iran, Greece, Tunisia, France, Spain, and Morocco.


“During this mission of peace and goodwill, I hope to promote a better understanding of America and to learn more of our friends abroad. In every country, I hope to make widely known America’s deepest desire—a world in which all nations may prosper in freedom, justice, and peace, unmolested and unafraid. We have heard much of the phrase ‘Peace and Friendship.’ This phrase, in expressing the aspirations of America, is not complete. We should say instead, ‘Peace and friendship in freedom.’ This, I think, is America’s real message to the world.”


It was his mission to use his last year in office to improve America’s image by convincing people around the globe that the United States was sincerely searching for a world peace formula, with no ulterior motives or aggressive designs.


For me, accompanying President Eisenhower on this international trip was beyond my wildest dreams. Other than a brief one-day visit to Canada during my temporary White House Detail assignment, I had never been anywhere outside the United States and here I was, about to embark on a historic trip visiting countries and cities I had only read about in books. In preparation, I’d been given a myriad of shots and inoculations to meet the health regulations of every country we would visit, courtesy of the White House physician’s office, and was issued a diplomatic passport. Notable by its green cover embossed with gold, indicating I was an official representative of the United States government, the passport included my photograph and identification, followed by dozens of blank pages that would soon be filled with entry and exit stamps from countries all over the world.


We had four airplanes in the entourage—the presidential plane with tail number 86970, which became “Air Force One” when the president was aboard; the backup plane with tail number 86971; and two press planes—one provided by Pan American World Airways and one by Trans World Airlines. At 8:15 p.m., the caravan of aircraft departed Andrews Air Force Base, and after a brief refueling stop in Goose Bay, Labrador, at 1:00 a.m., we flew directly to Rome, Italy.


ROME


It was raining heavily as we were attempting to land at Ciampino Airport around noon, local time. The city was filled with banners and signs greeting the American president, and despite the rain there were large, welcoming crowds at the airport and all along the motorcade route.


It worked out that my shift was on midnight rotation for the first portion of the trip, so we were immediately taken to the hotel to rest, while the day shift accompanied President Eisenhower in the motorcade through the city to an official lunch with President Giovanni Gronchi. Most of us had slept on the flight, and since our shift duty didn’t begin until midnight, we realized we had the opportunity to sightsee for a few hours. So we dropped off our bags at the hotel and headed to the U.S. Embassy, where we exchanged our dollars for Italian lira.


The embassy staff wanted to do everything they could to help us, and when they offered to provide cars with drivers to show us around Rome, we readily accepted. We drove all around the city, stopping at the major tourist sights—the Trevi fountain, the Spanish Steps, the Forum—and ended up at the Colosseum, where we had a private guided tour. I had never seen structures so old or walked on streets made of cobblestone. I was struck by the blending of the modern and the ancient, to see motorbikes whizzing around contemporary office buildings standing next to two-thousand-year-old marble structures and ruins. It was a whirlwind tour, with just enough time to get a taste of Rome and to buy a few postcards before returning to the hotel to get some sleep before our shift.


President Eisenhower was staying at the four-hundred-year-old Palazzo del Quirinale, the official residence of the president of Italy, for his two nights in Rome, accompanied by his son, Major John Eisenhower, and John’s wife, Barbara. Mrs. Eisenhower had elected not to come on the trip, largely, I suspected, because of her aversion to flying. A black-tie dinner and reception for nearly three thousand was held in honor of President Eisenhower at the palace that first night, and after a long day, he retired for the evening to his palatial apartment suite at around 10:30.


I quickly realized that being on the midnight shift in Rome was like drawing the lucky straw. Our duty entailed standing post while the president slept in an exceptionally secure environment, while the agents on the other two shifts were having to work twelve to fourteen hours a day covering the president’s activities in this unfamiliar locale. Protecting the president in a foreign country was very different from protecting him on our own soil. Not only did very few people speak English, but also we were guests of the people of Italy and had to make sure there was a cooperative effort on the part of the Italian authorities that blended with our protective operation.


The rain continued through the night, and it was still coming down when we were relieved by the day shift. While the other shift agents covered President Eisenhower as he visited the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier and attended meetings with various Italian leaders, we on the midnight shift, once again, were able to play tourist. The president was scheduled to have an audience with His Holiness Pope John XXIII at the Vatican the following day, and as we were trying to decide where to go sightseeing, the agent who had conducted the advance with the Vatican piped up and asked if any of us would be interested in a tour there.


A few phone calls were made, and the next thing I knew we were being introduced to members of the Swiss Guard, our counterparts to the pope. Public access was limited as a result of the tight security around President Eisenhower’s visit, so we were able to experience St. Peter’s Basilica, the great halls of the Vatican Museum, and the glory of the Sistine Chapel almost completely by ourselves. The pièce de résistance was a tour of the back rooms of the Vatican Treasury, an area not available to the general public, which housed the priceless jewels, ornaments, and gold accumulated by the Catholic Church over the centuries.


Meanwhile, despite the inclement weather, President Eisenhower was drawing huge crowds, with Rome’s streets lined with people huddled under drenched umbrellas, waving and cheering wherever he went. At one point as the presidential motorcade drove by, two hundred young student priests from a Catholic seminary broke into a chant of “We like Ike!” His visit was impacting the people of Italy exactly as he had hoped. One Italian journalist stated just how much this country thought of the American president in a local newspaper report: “He represents a moral conscience, a spiritual force. The world must be inspired by his goodwill mission.”


By Sunday morning the rain had passed, and the sun shone brightly against a blue sky for President Eisenhower’s last day in Rome. The clear weather brought out thousands more spectators than had been seen the previous two days, and gave President Eisenhower the opportunity to ride in an open car as he drove from the Quirinale to the Vatican. An Italian motorcycle escort paved the way for the president’s convertible, and as the motorcade entered St. Peter’s Square, the enormous crowd erupted into cheers, prompting the president to stand up and wave his hat in appreciation. Immediately following the services, President Eisenhower was escorted to the papal apartment on the second floor of the Vatican, where he had an audience with Pope John XXIII. The twenty-six-minute meeting was hailed as a coming together of two scions of peace, and capped off what was by all accounts a very successful visit.


ANKARA


From Rome we flew directly to Ankara, the capital of Turkey. Although Eisenhower had traveled to Ankara during the war in his capacity as Supreme Allied Commander, this was his first visit to the country as president. But more important, it was the first time any American president had ever visited the Republic of Turkey.


When we landed at Esenboga Airport, dozens of American flags flapped in the wind alongside Turkish flags, along with a large banner that said WELCOME IKE. Turkish president Celal Bayar was there to meet President Eisenhower with a full military reception, and then the two leaders climbed into a 1934 Lincoln convertible, furnished by the Turkish government, and drove the twenty miles into downtown Ankara. As the motorcade entered the Turkish capital, I could hardly believe the sight.


As far as your eyes could see, there were people. Masses of people. They lined Ataturk Boulevard, often twenty people deep on both sides, while still more waved from open windows, and up above, balconies and rooftops were packed with bodies, the majority of them waving small American flags. As the motorcycle escort came into view of the crowds, the people erupted with a roar of cheers and clapping. Overcome with gratitude, President Eisenhower stood up, took off his hat, and waved to the throngs of admirers as the motorcade proceeded through the city.


Fences had been set up on the side of the street with a strong showing of Turkish police stationed intermittently to keep the large crowds contained, but a few times groups of people would try to break through and run alongside the cars. There were banners draped across the street showing President Eisenhower and President Bayar side by side, and on one building a six-story canvas painting of Eisenhower hung down. It felt like we were in the middle of a circus parade as the crowds shouted “Yasha! Yasha!”—“Long Live!”—while bands played and groups of performers in traditional costumes danced and sang all the way to our destination of the Turkish government guesthouse where the presidential party would stay overnight. Estimates were that nearly 700,000 people came out to welcome President Eisenhower to Ankara. It was remarkable.


KARACHI


From Ankara we flew to the port city of Karachi, Pakistan. President Eisenhower had never visited Pakistan and was looking forward to the visit with great anticipation. As we approached our destination, there was a sudden thundering roar outside the aircraft at about 25,000 feet. A dozen U.S.-built jet fighters of the Pakistani air force were flying in formation to escort us as we landed at Mauripur Air Force Base. It was a high honor to President Eisenhower, and part of the preauthorized plan, but also a clear example of how much trust and confidence the Secret Service must place in the relationship with the host country and their security forces.


President Eisenhower was beaming as he stepped off the plane and strode down the steps to greet President Muhammad Ayub Khan, who was waiting at the bottom of the ramp. The two shook hands and began an animated conversation that indicated their genuine fondness and respect for each other, despite this being their first meeting.


Formed as an Islamic Republic just a few years earlier, Pakistan was a young country, and President Ayub Khan had only recently become its leader in a military coup. Ayub Khan had pledged a strong alliance with the United States from the outset, and Eisenhower’s visit was a boost in prestige for the fifty-two-year-old Pakistani president.


After the formal arrival ceremonies at the air base, Eisenhower and Ayub Khan got into the backseat of a white open-top convertible for the motorcade into downtown Karachi. After seeing the reception for President Eisenhower in Ankara, I expected there might be a similar reception in Karachi, and there was—except that here the crowds were twice the size, and almost completely made up of men and boys. Everywhere you looked there were hundreds of thousands of Pakistani males dressed in long tunics and loose trousers shouting and waving as the cars rolled by.


“Eisenhower Zindabad!” they chanted. “Long Life to Eisenhower!”


In response to the tremendous outpouring of affection, President Eisenhower rose up out of his seat and stood so the people could see him better, his arms outstretched, waving with his hat in his hand. More than a million people were packed along the roadways, perched on balconies and rooftops, hanging out every window of every building, cheering and clapping for this American president.


Throughout the downtown area, the Stars and Stripes and Pakistan’s green and white crescent flag waved from poles and arches, intermingled in a show of solidarity between the two nations. As the motorcade came to a halt in a broad corner square near the U.S. Embassy, thousands of Pakistanis pushed and shoved their way into the square to get a better view. With just a handful of agents covering President Eisenhower, it could have been a disastrous situation, but fortunately the Pakistani police force kept control over the people, keeping them a safe distance from the two presidents.


In front of the embassy, Eisenhower and Ayub Khan switched from the convertible to a royal-looking red and gold coach drawn by six black horses, ridden by members of the military bedecked in knee-length red jackets adorned with brass buttons. As the procession moved slowly toward the presidential residence, President Eisenhower stood erect in the carriage, grinning broadly as he waved to the exuberant crowds amid a constant roar of cheers and clapping. Secret Service agents and Pakistani security agents walked between the carriage and the mass of spectators, while Special Agent in Charge Jim Rowley rode in the carriage with the president and Ayub Khan. Even though the crowds were well behaved, the exposure of the president at such a slow speed was very precarious.


Karachi is a large port city and, at that time, it was the capital of Pakistan, and overflowing with people living in extreme poverty. Because of the poor conditions in the city and the lack of appropriate hotel accommodations, a United States ship had been brought into port to be used as the housing facility for the agents and the staff. About an hour before my shift started, we went ashore and were driven to President Ayub Khan’s residence, where the president was staying. As we drove through the dark city, the car’s headlights illuminated an astonishing sight. Hundreds of people were lying, unmoving, along the side of the road. The next morning when we returned to the ship, government trucks were driving slowly through the streets with workers walking alongside them, kicking the people on the side of the road to determine if they were alive or dead. We watched with horror as the workers picked up the dead bodies and threw them, like sacks of potatoes, into the backs of the trucks. Some of the trucks were piled high with dead bodies, and we realized this was most likely a daily occurrence. It was almost hard to comprehend; a real eye-opener about how fortunate we were in the United States.


By the time President Eisenhower’s activities began in the morning, the bodies had all been removed, as if they were never there. Ayub Khan took great care to present his country in a good light, and had arranged nonstop events from morning until late evening for the two-night stay of his esteemed guest. There was a cricket match between Australia and Pakistan at the National Stadium, a horse show at the Polo Field, and black-tie dinners capped off with entertainment by turbaned sword dancers. At each event and all around Karachi, people waved American flags and held banners proclaiming: THANK YOU AMERICA! and WE LIKE IKE!


KABUL


After two nights in Pakistan, we were off to the neighboring country of Afghanistan. The flight to Kabul was just over an hour, and as we descended toward Bagram Airport at around 8:30 in the morning, I was struck by the harshness of the terrain. The city of Kabul was situated at nearly six thousand feet, and appeared to be a sprawling array of primitive structures that might have dated back to the time of Genghis Khan wedged into a narrow valley between the craggy, snow-covered Hindu Kush mountains.


At the time, Afghanistan was a monarchy ruled by forty-five-year-old King Mohammed Zahir Shah, and although it was a neutral country, there was mounting Soviet influence, which was exemplified by the Russian-built airstrip and paved road leading to the capital city. Eisenhower’s visit was scheduled to be just six hours, with no overnight stay, and although my shift was not on duty, we had all decided to ride into the city out of pure curiosity.


The two agents who had been sent ahead to Kabul a couple of weeks earlier to do the advance had, we soon found out, been violently ill with dysentery. Both Larry Short and Paul Rundle looked like they had each lost about ten pounds, and although there wasn’t much color in their faces, they handled the president’s arrival with the utmost professionalism, and everything went off without a hitch. King Zahir met President Eisenhower at the airport, and after a simple ceremony, which included some children dancing in native costumes to traditional music, we set off by motorcade into downtown Kabul.


The temperature was near freezing, and yet tens of thousands of villagers lined the route from the airport to Kabul. The vast majority of the onlookers were long-bearded men dressed in ankle-length tunics with wool wraps and turbans, and you could tell from their leathered skin that life here was hard, and the people were a tough breed. It appeared that many of the tribesmen had been waiting for hours, warming themselves with small bonfires, and as our motorcade rode along the same route that had been traveled by Alexander the Great and Genghis Khan, the people waved and cheered.


President Eisenhower and King Zahir rode in the backseat of the king’s 1947 Lincoln convertible, and as we entered the downtown area, the crowds got denser and denser, making it difficult for the Afghan police motorcycle riders to keep the path open for the cars following behind. Men and young boys crowded around the slow-moving motorcade, waving small American flags and throwing streamers and confetti, trying to move in closer to see President Eisenhower. The situation got so bad that Agents Jim Rowley and Dick Flohr were perched on the back fender of the car, and at times they had to physically throw overly exuberant young men back into the street as they tried to reach in and touch President Eisenhower. Fortunately, the motorcade made its way to the Chilstoon Palace, and President Eisenhower was scurried into the safety of the king’s residence without any major incident.


A luncheon was held at the palace, and then a private meeting between President Eisenhower and King Zahir. Eisenhower expressed concern about the large amount of resources the Afghan king had accepted from the Soviets, but the end result of the meeting was a strengthening of the relationship between our two countries, with Eisenhower committing $145 million in U.S. aid to help build roads and a new airport in Kandahar.


Meanwhile, those of us who weren’t on duty wandered around the city, curious to witness daily life in such a remote location. People filled the streets, haggling for foodstuffs from vendors selling fruits and vegetables from baskets and bins along the side of the road. One man had a couple of pigeons in a cage, and next to them a dozen rabbits, all presumably destined to become dinner, while still other vendors cooked flatbread in large cast iron skillets over open fires. Camels were a common sight, being led by their masters, their backs piled high with blankets and burlap bags stuffed to the seams. I felt like I had been transported back in time.


The downtown was a mix of rustic mud buildings, ornate mosques, and modern low-rise structures, and at the edge of the city ramshackle houses were clustered precariously on the surrounding hillsides. People greeted us with smiles and offered us food, but having seen the condition of our colleagues Rundle and Short, we didn’t dare try any of the local delicacies. Our time on the ground in Kabul was just six hours, and at 2:00 p.m. we were airborne for New Delhi, India.


Of all the stops on this tour, President Eisenhower was most excited about visiting India. After the tremendous receptions he had received in Rome, Ankara, Karachi, and Kabul, we were expecting large, enthusiastic crowds, but nothing could have prepared us for what happened in New Delhi.


INDIA


I slept for the entire two-and-a-half-hour flight, and the next thing I knew it was 5:00 p.m. and we were landing at Palam Airport in New Delhi. Our plane arrived several minutes ahead of Air Force One, and I could hardly believe what I saw when I stepped off the aircraft. People were stacked twenty deep behind rope lines, and still thousands more were seated in bleachers, as if the arrival of the American president were a sporting event. There had to be nearly seventy thousand people waiting on the tarmac—more than could fill Yankee Stadium. The crowd cheered when Air Force One landed, and then, moments later, when the door opened and President Eisenhower stepped out to the top of the stairway, there was a thunderous roar. Ike broke into an enormous grin at the rousing welcome of flags waving and people clapping, cheering, and whistling.


As soon as he stepped off the ramp, he was draped with a garland of flowers that looped around his neck and hung to his shins. President Rajendra Prasad was the first to greet him, followed by Vice President Sarvepalli Radhakrishman, Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru, and his daughter, Indira Gandhi. The agents on shift kept their distance, allowing the president space while maintaining a carefully orchestrated envelope around him so that, should any trouble occur, they could pounce and shield him in an instant.


A small raised stage had been set up with a microphone for President Eisenhower to make a statement, and as he stepped up to the podium the crowd went wild with excitement.


“Mr. President, Mr. Prime Minister, Your Excellencies, and ladies and gentlemen,” he began. “As I set foot on the soil of India I am fulfilling a cherished wish held for many years. India won its freedom and its independence through peaceful means. This in itself was a great accomplishment, and one that has challenged the admiration of the entire world . . . the only alternative to global war is peace, for the other alternative is too horrible even to mention.”


At every pause, the people clapped and cheered, chanting, “Zindabad Ike! Zindabad Ike!” “Long Live Ike!”


A few minutes later the motorcade was under way, with President Eisenhower, Prasad, and Nehru riding in the backseat of an open-top two-door black Cadillac convertible, led by an Indian police motorcycle escort.


Since I wasn’t on duty, I was assigned to a car several cars behind the presidential vehicle, and as we exited the airport, I was amazed by the sheer number of people of all ages—men, women, and children—who had come to see the American president. The streets were lined with people as far as you could see, and where there was a higher vantage point, be it a roof, a balcony, or a tree limb, those spots too were jammed with people.


We hadn’t gone very far when the motorcade stopped, and I could see there was a commotion up ahead. People had broken past the police lines, filling the street so the cars and motorcycles couldn’t pass. The authorities were yelling and shoving people, trying to get them to clear a pathway, but the crowd had swarmed around the presidential vehicle and there was nowhere for anyone to go. The Indian security forces had completely lost control of the situation. Suddenly, Prime Minister Nehru got out of the car and started swinging a swagger stick at the people. I could hardly believe my eyes. The Indian prime minister was hitting his own people! As people struggled to move out of the way, they began trampling each other. It was a horrifying scene, but slowly the crowd inched away, clearing enough of an opening so the vehicles could begin moving again.


The ten-mile journey from the airport to Rashtrapati Bhavan—the president’s residence—took well over an hour, simply due to the overwhelming throngs. One and a half million people lined the route, and as a sign of respect and admiration, many were throwing handfuls of flower petals and even whole bouquets into the presidential vehicle. On several more occasions, the crowd pushed its way into the roadway, and each time, Prime Minister Nehru jumped out, swinging his swagger stick to clear the path. There was an enormous outpouring of affection, a massive crowd, yet still, despite the overwhelmingly positive nature of the people, it was on the verge of calamity, and there was always the possibility that one person, or an organized group, might have intentions of harming the president. It was intense, on-the-job training in how a crowd—even a friendly crowd—can quickly and unpredictably spiral out of control.


Even with the superb advance planning by two experienced agents, we were somewhat at the mercy of the local authorities. There is no way to predict what will happen in any given situation, so you have to be able to constantly adjust your security procedures. But it is very difficult when you have limited resources, you are in a foreign country, you are guests of that country, and they are unable to control their own people. Fortunately, the two presidents got through the crowd to their destination without any harm to either of them, but it was a priceless lesson for all of us on the detail that day. We were lucky the people were friendly. Had there been any animosity, I shudder to think what could have happened.


It had been a long, tiring day for President Eisenhower, so, shortly after arriving at Rashtrapati Bhavan, he retired to his private suite for the night.


All of the agents were given accommodations in the presidential guesthouse, and since I was still on the midnight shift, I went directly to my room. I knew I’d better use the few free hours I had before I went on duty to get some rest, so I undressed, set the alarm on my wind-up travel clock, got into bed, and promptly fell asleep.


Upon awakening to the sound of the alarm, I groggily got up, only to find that all my clothes were missing.


What the hell?


At that moment, there was a knock on the door. I grabbed a towel from the bathroom, wrapped it around my waist, and opened the door.


Standing before me was a very thin young Indian man, his arms outstretched, holding my undershorts, undershirt, dress shirt, suit coat, and pants, all freshly cleaned and pressed.


With a big smile and a British-tinged accent, he said, “Here you are, sir. Anything else I can do for you, sir?”


“Uh, no, thank you,” I said as I took my clothes.


“Please don’t hesitate, sir,” he replied. “I am pleased to be at your service.”


It turned out that he was the houseboy assigned to my room, and part of his job was to do my laundry, whether or not I requested it. I quickly learned not to leave any article of clothing lying around unless I wanted it cleaned and pressed.


We had designated security posts around the suite occupied by President Eisenhower, John, and Barbara, and throughout the night the agents on the midnight shift rotated posts every thirty minutes. In addition, members of the presidential protective unit of India had personnel in corresponding posts near each of us, presumably as our backup, but they spent most of the night chatting with each other, often loudly and with animation. We couldn’t understand a word they were saying, so we simply tried to ignore them and went about our normal protective procedures.


At around two in the morning, I happened to be standing at the post immediately outside the door to the presidential suite when the president’s son John came out.


“Agent,” he said, “will you please get those Indian guys to stop talking? Their voices carry right into the president’s bedroom and he can’t get to sleep.”


“Absolutely, Major Eisenhower,” I said. “I’ll take care of it.”


I was embarrassed that we hadn’t realized the noise might keep the president awake and hadn’t handled the situation earlier, but I immediately confronted the Indian guards and convinced them to move farther away, and to halt all conversation. We didn’t hear another word from inside the suite, so, presumably, after that the president was finally able to get some sleep.


WITH FOUR DAYS in India, once again, those of us on the midnight shift got a lucky break. When we were relieved by the day shift at eight o’clock in the morning, we had time to do a little sightseeing. While none of us knew much about Indian culture, the one thing about which we had all heard was the magnificent splendor of the Taj Mahal. Our contacts at the State Department provided us with a car and an Indian driver, so a few of us piled into the car and headed down to Agra.


At that early morning hour, the streets of New Delhi were coming alive, as shops opened and people went about their daily life. The streets were filled with people on bicycles—sometimes two or three people to one bike—riding every which way, interspersed with people walking alongside camels piled high with blankets and burlap sacks; tractors and rusty old trucks; and every so often a lone cow—sacred in India—wandering aimlessly among the chaos.


The city turned to countryside, where we rarely saw any sign of life, but then all of a sudden there would be a village, marked only by a row of outdoor produce stands and perhaps a one-pump gas station. The vast majority of the people were skeletal-thin and often barefoot, with a look of despair on their faces. Cooking was done over open fires that created heavy plumes of smoke, and when we asked our driver about the unusual stench, he told us it was from the elephant dung commonly used for fuel.


Finally we reached Agra, and the driver pulled up to a massive arched gate and parked the car.


“This is the Taj Mahal,” he said. “Come, I will show you.”


As we walked through the gate, suddenly the Taj Mahal was visible, and the sight was truly breathtaking. The white marble domed structure stood at the end of an extraordinary reflecting pool, like a beautiful queen staring into a mirror, oblivious of her timeless beauty. It was truly one of the most magnificent buildings I had ever seen. You couldn’t help but be overcome by a sense of awe as you approached the Taj, and as we walked, our driver explained how the Mughal emperor Shah Jahan was grief-stricken when his third wife, Mumtaz Mahal, had died during the birth of their fourteenth child. He commissioned the Taj Mahal to be built as a mausoleum to honor her memory, and after fourteen years of construction, the main building was completed in 1638.


The interior of the Taj was like an art museum, filled with intricate mosaics on the ceilings, walls, and floors, all encrusted with colorful, semiprecious stones. It was a masterpiece, a timeless tribute to the woman who was the love of the emperor’s life. I thought to myself, Damn, she must have been one hell of a woman.


Driving back to New Delhi, it was impossible not to notice the stark contrast between the splendor and riches of the ruling class—as exemplified by the Taj Mahal—and the numbing poverty of the masses. It was just one of the many times throughout this journey that made me realize how lucky I was to have been born in the United States of America.


IT WAS REALLY remarkable to me how much stamina our sixty-nine-year-old president possessed. The time change between Washington and New Delhi alone caused me a problem, but the president seemed not to be bothered at all by jet lag, and I wondered how he did it. He wanted to see as much of India as he could during his four-day visit, so the schedule was tightly packed. He was up early every morning, with one meeting, speech, or official function after another, dinners sometimes with five thousand guests, and as the guest of honor, the president always had to be on.


Sunday, December 13, was an example of how tiring, long, and complicated a day traveling with the president can be. The president arose at 6:00 a.m. and departed by car with President Prasad at 7:50 to attend services at the Protestant Church of India Cathedral. They returned to the Rashtrapati Bhavan at 9:00 a.m., and fifteen minutes later departed for Palam Airport with Prime Minister Nehru. They flew to the city of Agra and transferred to an open-top car, so the tens of thousands of people lining the route from the airport to the Taj Mahal could get a good view of the American president.


The three-hundred-year-old “temple of love” was something President Eisenhower had yearned to see ever since first reading about it as a young boy in Kansas, and while he told Nehru it was the thing he had looked forward to most of all on this entire trip, just thirty minutes were allotted in the schedule for his private tour. Then it was back in the helicopter for a flight to Bichpuri, where they transferred to a car for a brief tour of an agricultural training center at a college before driving to the rural village of Laraonda. People lined the dirt roads and stood on the thatched roofs of mud shacks, cheering the “prince of peace” as President Eisenhower waved from the backseat of the open convertible. The village headman greeted President Eisenhower with yet another long garland of flowers, introduced him to the town councilors, and then it was back in the car to Bichpuri, where the helicopter awaited. They choppered to Agra, transferred to a small airplane, and flew back to Palam Airport in New Delhi, landing at 1:20 p.m. It had already been a full day, but by the time the president motored back to Rashtrapati Bhavan, there was just enough time for a quick bite to eat and a short rest before the evening events.


At 4:15 p.m. Prime Minister Nehru arrived at the palace to accompany President Eisenhower to the Ramlila Ground, a sprawling park that separated Old Delhi and New Delhi, for what would be Eisenhower’s final public appearance in India. Fortunately, the Indian officials had learned from the near tragic arrival motorcade, as well as an incident the previous day when Indian police were forced to beat back crowds at the World Agricultural Fair, and sturdy fences had been erected around large pens in which to contain the people.


It was a wise decision, because by the time we brought President Eisenhower to the site, more than one million people had gathered for the farewell speech. Acres of solidly packed humanity stretched as far as I could see, and when President Eisenhower walked onto the elevated stage, the crowd broke into a roar of cheers. President Eisenhower captivated the audience with a stirring speech in which he repeatedly invoked the name of Mohandas K. Gandhi, the leader of India’s independence movement, in an effort to show the strong bond we shared in our dedication to freedom. There had never been a larger crowd assembled in the Ramlila Ground, and the fact that all these people had come to hear President Eisenhower left a lasting image in my mind about the enormous impact, and power, the President of the United States had. Because of all the great things Dwight D. Eisenhower had accomplished, both before and during his term of office, he had earned the respect of people all over the world. He was an ambassador of the highest order, instilling hope and inspiration, a true leader who reflected positively on the American people.


TEHRAN


We left India before dawn on Monday, December 14, 1959, and headed for our next stop—Tehran, Iran. This was to be only a six-hour stop, but as usual there was a lot packed into a short amount of time. It was a short flight, with just enough time to review the advance agents’ report on the events and situation in Tehran.


Our shifts had rotated the day before, so for the next two weeks I would be working the 4:00 p.m. to midnight shift. There would be no more sightseeing, but that was fine with me. I much preferred being where the action was. Every country, every city, and every venue had its own challenges when it came to protecting the president, and the adrenaline was constantly flowing.


We landed at Mehrabad Airport right on schedule at 8:45 a.m. It was a frigid morning, but that hadn’t deterred thousands from coming out to meet the American president. Wearing a topcoat, scarf, and hat, the president smiled broadly as he stepped off the plane, waving to the cheering crowd as he descended the steps. A band was playing, and before us was a sea of little flags flapping in the wind. Seven hundred fifty schoolchildren stood bundled in coats and hats, half of them holding American flags and the other half waving red, white, and green Iranian flags. His Imperial Majesty Mohammad Reza Pahlavi, the Shah of Iran, was waiting at the bottom of the steps with a line of Iranian dignitaries, and as Eisenhower greeted them, three cannons fired off a twenty-one-gun salute. Suddenly there was a tremendous roar overhead as a group of military jets flying in tight formation spelled out “IKE” in the crisp blue sky. After a brief welcoming ceremony, President Eisenhower and the Shah got into the backseat of the open-top Cadillac convertible provided by the Iranian government, and the motorcade was under way.


It was an impressive motorcade, with dozens of Iranian motorcycle officers in a V-formation ahead of the presidential vehicle, while our agents mixed with the Iranian protective detail in vehicles slightly to the rear on either side of the president’s car. We had been given our assignments by the Agent in Charge, and as I took my position in the follow-up car, I noticed a contingent of vehicles behind us filled with Iranian soldiers carrying submachine guns. It was a bit disconcerting, but one thing I had begun to realize on this trip was how much we had to rely on, and trust, our host government’s security procedures. This was their home turf.


Despite the freezing cold temperatures, more than three quarters of a million people lined the route from the airport to downtown Tehran. The crowds cheered as we drove past colorful banners celebrating Iran’s friendship with the United States, and while the people were exuberant, they were kept in order by thousands of soldiers standing intimidatingly with rifles, bayonets attached, slung over their shoulders.


As we neared the city, suddenly the road turned red. Huge, intricately woven Persian rugs had been placed end to end in the street—dozens of them for hundreds of yards—creating the largest and most beautiful welcome mat you can imagine. It seemed a shame to me that the motorcycles and cars drove right over these magnificent works of art, but that is exactly what we did. Talk about rolling out the red carpet.


The destination was the Shah’s palace, where the two leaders met privately for about two hours. Then President Eisenhower addressed a joint session of the Iranian Parliament, praising the people of Iran for refusing to stand on the sidelines in the free world’s fight against Communism.


“I know I speak for the American people when I say we are proud to count so valiant a nation as a partner,” he declared.


The members of Parliament listened intently to his every word, and at the end of his comments rose out of their seats in a standing ovation. From there it was on to an official luncheon in the Hall of Mirrors at Golestan Palace. The room was literally covered from floor to ceiling with mirrors and prisms that caught the light so that it looked like wallpaper made out of diamonds.


After lunch, there was another motorcade through the streets of Tehran back to Air Force One. On this, my first trip to Iran, there was no time for sightseeing. The overwhelming memory I have is the feeling of tension and adrenaline, scanning the massive crowds at the airport and the crowded streets of Tehran. My senses were focused on the people, not the art and architecture. That is the usual situation for an agent on duty. You may have visited some exotic place, but there is no time for exploration or enjoyment.


ATHENS


It was 4:40 p.m. local time when we landed at Hellinikon Airport outside Athens, Greece. Waiting at the foot of the ramp to greet the president were King Paul and his son Crown Prince Constantine, resplendent in their formal navy uniforms bedecked with medals, ribbons, and gold braid.


Once again, there was an elaborate arrival ceremony, which included a twenty-one-gun salute, greetings by Greek dignitaries, and an inspection of the honor guard, followed by a short speech by President Eisenhower in which he acknowledged the people of Greece and the warm friendship between our two nations.


King Paul guided President Eisenhower to the backseat of their designated car, a magnificent open-top Rolls-Royce touring sedan driven by a Greek military aide, with another Greek aide in the right-front passenger seat. It was unusual not to have one of our agents in the car with the president, but this is how the trip had been negotiated between the Greeks and our political and Secret Service advance team. Those of us on President Eisenhower’s detail took our predesignated positions in convertibles directly behind the Rolls-Royce, and the motorcade got under way.


The sun had gone down, and darkness was setting in as we made our way through the streets of Athens, making it difficult to see any unusual movement or activity within the throngs of people that lined the motorcade route. People were packed shoulder to shoulder along the boulevards, waving huge flags, clapping, and cheering, and up above people hung out open windows, jamming rooftops and balconies. It was estimated that 750,000 people had come out to welcome President Eisenhower—the largest gathering ever assembled in Greece for a visiting dignitary—and to show appreciation, President Eisenhower and King Paul both stood and waved from the back of the open car the entire length of the eight-mile route.


It felt like we were in the middle of a circus as people threw flowers and confetti, while others attempted to run into the street. Fortunately, the Greek police were out in force and were able to keep control of the excited crowd as we headed first to the Tomb of the Unknowns for a wreath-laying ceremony, and then, finally, on to the palace.


That night there was a formal dinner at the palace hosted by King Paul and Queen Frederika, and it was quite late by the time we got President Eisenhower safely into his suite. It had been a grueling twenty-two-hour day for everyone on the trip. Three countries, two flights, and five motorcades with exposure to more than one and a half million people.


THE NEXT DAY, President Eisenhower had a typically full schedule that included breakfast at the American Embassy residence, meetings with Greek prime minister Konstantinos Karamanlis, and a speech in front of the Greek Parliament. Meanwhile, the USS Des Moines, a heavy cruiser stationed in the Mediterranean, was waiting at anchor off the coast of Greece, its crew preparing the ship to transport the commander in chief on the next leg of his trip. The president would sail from Athens to Tunis, Tunisia; disembark in Tunis for a meeting with President Habib Ben Ali Bourguiba; and then return to the ship for a leisurely twenty-four-hour cruise to Toulon, a port city in the southeast of France. In Toulon, the president would board a private train and travel the 430 miles north to Paris.


By this point, everyone on the trip was ready for a little rest and relaxation. There was very limited space on board the Des Moines, so only minimal staff and a few Secret Service agents could accompany the president on this leg of the trip—which meant the majority of the presidential staff and most of the Secret Service agents would fly directly from Athens to Paris.


PARIS


We flew to Paris, and with a day and a half of free time, we were determined to make the most of it. With the assistance of the French police officers with whom we would be working once the president arrived, we had the best tour guides one could find.


The first day, we had quick visits to all the famous tourist locations—the Cathedral of Notre Dame, the Eiffel Tower, the Arc de Triomphe, and the Louvre—but one of the officers convinced us that if we wanted to experience the real Paris, we had to get up early in the morning.


“Trust me,” he said as he brought his fingers to his mouth with a kiss. “You love.”


When night fell, the city turned absolutely magical. Tiny white lights were strung on balconies and draped around the bare tree branches so that it looked like twinkling chandeliers were hanging along the streets and the banks of the Seine. Store windows were decorated with gingerbread houses, Christmas trees, and fake snow, while carolers sang on street corners. We had been working so hard, we had almost forgotten it was Christmastime.


The next morning, we had no idea what we were getting ourselves into, but we followed the officer’s directions and found our way to Les Halles. It turned out that Les Halles was a market where the produce, cheese, and meats arrived from the countryside each day. It was before dawn, but the place was bustling with shopkeepers and farmers bargaining in French, a cigarette in one hand and a handful of francs in the other.


Our French police officer guide brought us to one particular stall and said something in French to the man behind the counter. Next thing we knew, out came individual crocks of steaming hot onion soup for each of us. A thick layer of crusty, gooey cheese was baked over the top, and the officer showed us how to dip in our spoon, twirl it around with the cheese, and then sop it all up with a piece of crusty baguette. I’ll never forget the morning I had authentic French onion soup for breakfast in Les Halles.
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